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We defend each answer with an explanation based on citations from the book.  Often, we quote more 
content than needed to put our answers into context and to make this quiz a richer learning experience.  
Citations from the book appear on a yellow background in Times-Roman. 

Paragraphs labeled as “Notes” contain supplemental information we think useful but which is not part of 
the course.  Paragraphs labeled as “Comments” are the author’s comments and may be ignored. 

Recommendation:  If you don’t fully understand any particular question or our explanation of the answer, 
we suggest you re-read the section upon which the question is based.  For example, if you missed 
question #1 and you don’t understand our explanation, then re-read “§1.1:  Overview.” 

Caveat:  These quiz questions are more difficult than are the questions on the final.  They tend to be 
longer, make greater use of real estate jargon, and may require more thought than questions on the final. 

 

 

 

In several of the questions, Linda and Betty are 
REALTOR®s and licensed salespersons.  Linda is 
Sam’s agent and Betty is Bob’s agent (the buyer).  
Linda and Betty work for different brokers. 

 

1. 1.1:  OVERVIEW 

The License Law is enforced by NAR®’s local grievance committees. 

 

False  The License Law is enforced by the Commissioner whose principal power is to grant, restrict, and revoke 

licenses; the Code is enforced by local grievance committees of the NAR®. 

Note:  As of 2012, the DRE is empowered (via BPC §10080.9) to levy fines not to exceed $2,500 per 
citation for violations of the real estate law (source) 

2. 2.1:  THE FOUNDATION:  BPC §§10176, 10177 

Linda was convicted of drunk driving.  When arrested, she had been showing property.  If her conviction 
should come to the attention of the DRE, the DRE could restrict or even revoke her license. 

 

True  BPC §10177 gives the DRE the authority to restrict the license of any licensee convicted of, a felony, 

or a crime substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a real estate licensee …  (Specifics are 
given in CR 2910(a)).  Since driving under the influence is a crime (see Note #1) and Linda’s offence was 
related to her duties as a licensee (showing property), CalBRE has the power to restrict or revoke her 
license for her DUI conviction. 

Note #1: A DUI is usually prosecuted as a misdemeanor and not a felony (source).  So, if a DUI is not a 
felony, then is it a crime?  “Yes,” because a crime is “an act or the commission of an act that is forbidden or 
the omission of a duty that is commanded by a public law and that makes the offender liable to punishment 
by that law” (source).  Since DUI offenders are prosecuted and sanctioned, a misdemeanor conviction for 

http://law.justia.com/codes/california/2011/bpc/division-4/10050-10088/10080.9/
http://www.expertlawfirm.com/is-a-dui-a-felony/
http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/crime
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DUI is a crime.  (A broader definition of “crime” is:  “any violation of the law in which the offender may be 
incarcerated.”) 

Note #2:  The DRE has a small article about license discipline for DUI offenses in its newsletter of Spring 
2006, Real Estate Bulletin .  It discusses a specific regulation regarding DUIs, CR 2910(a)(11), which 
reads:  “When considering whether a license should be denied, suspended or revoked on the basis of the 
conviction of a crime … two or more convictions involving the consumption or use of alcohol or drugs when 
at least one of the convictions involve driving and the use or consumption of alcohol or drugs.”   

Note #3:  Anyone convicted of a misdemeanor or felony since their last renewal would do well to read this 
FAQs from The RGB Law Group, Criminal Record FAQ for California Real Estate License.  It’s very 
thorough and authoritative in its description of how the DRE determines if a licensee’s criminal conviction 
warrants its refusal to deny the licensee’s renewal application. 

3. 2.1:  THE FOUNDATION:  BPC §§10176, 10177 

Linda’s memory is failing.  She forgets to deposit checks into her trust account, fails to present offers, omits 
disclosures, and forgets appointments.  The DRE could restrict or even revoke her license. 

 

True  The Department proceeds in those cases where the licensee is so careless or unqualified that to allow the 

licensee to handle a transaction would endanger the interests of clients or customers. 

The DRE’s mission is to protect the public in its real estate transactions – not to protect the interests of 
licensees.  The DRE is not your friend! 

Note:  The DRE publishes a monthly, online report of disciplinary actions available here.  A commonly cited 
violation is BPC §10177(g):  “Negligence or incompetence in performing licensed acts.” 

4. 2.1:  THE FOUNDATION:  BPC §§10176, 10177 

Linda sells her vacation home to Bob but does not tell either Bob or Betty she is a licensee.  Linda is in 
violation of the Real Estate Law. 

 

False  Yes, this was a tricky one (remember, the questions on the finals are never tricky).  Linda does not 

need to disclose that she, as the seller, is a licensee. 

BPC §10177(o) reads failure to disclose to buyer the nature and extent of ownership interest a licensee has in 

property which is the subject of a transaction in which the licensee is an agent for the buyer.  Note the qualification, 

“in which the licensee is an agent for the buyer”:  Linda is a seller; not an agent. 

5. 2.2:  SELLER BEWARE!  A CASE HISTORY 

BACKGROUND:  Linda tells Bob, an avid nature lover, that opposite to Sam’s home is a trailhead leading 
to miles of trails over pristine wild lands set aside for posterity.  This feature is so important to Bob, that he 
makes a full-price offer which Sam accepts. 
 
After selling his own home and just before Bob is to close, Linda discloses that the “wild lands” will soon be 
developed into a gated community.   Heartbroken, but too committed to back out, he signs the addendum. 
 
Bob has an actionable claim against Linda and Sam for misrepresentation. 

http://www.dre.ca.gov/files/pdf/reb/rebspr06.pdf
http://www.dre.ca.gov/files/pdf/reb/rebspr06.pdf
https://convictionfree.com/criminal-record-faq-for-real-estate-brokers/#which-california-agency-is-in-charge-of-screening-real-estate-license-applicants-for-criminal-records
http://www.dre.ca.gov/Licensees/DisciplinaryActions.html
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True  Bob’s situation is analogous to the situation faced by the Jues in Jue v. 

Smiser, 1994.  In that case, the Jues purchased the Smiser’s home believing 
their listing agent’s claim that it had been designed by Julia Morgan (the 
celebrated architect of Hearst Castle).  That agent presented the Jues with a 
disclosure just before their close of escrow stating that the home may not have 
been designed by Julia Morgan.  Since the Jues had already sold their home and since the disclosure was 
not definitive, the Jues believed they had no other realistic alternative but to sign the disclosure and 
complete escrow. 

After close of escrow and after the Jues had concluded that their new home was not designed by Julia 
Morgan, the Jues sued the listing agent (and others) claiming negligent misrepresentation.  The trial court 
agreed with the Smisers that the Jues case was not actionable since the Jues had acknowledged the 
disclosure.  The Jues appealed and the appellate court reversed the trial court citing Bagdasarian v. 
Gragnon, 1948:  “When a party learns that he has been defrauded, he may, instead of rescinding, elect to 
stand on the contract and sue for damages.” 

6. 2.3.2:  DISCLOSURE OF AGENT’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTION 

Betty represents her son-in-law in the purchase of Sam’s home.  Both the Code and the Real Estate Law 
require Betty to disclose this relationship to Sam. 

 

False  Betty is in violation of only the Code but not the Real Estate Law. 

Mr. Hunt’s article explains that Article 4 of NAR®’s Code of Ethics requires that any REALTOR® with any 
interest in a brokered property must disclose that interest to the other party.  Mr. Hunt explains that by “any 
interest,” the Code means not only an actual or potential ownership interest but any indirect interest 

through a family member. 

Citation:  … in one of the many Case Interpretations that accompany the Code of Ethics, it is made clear that 

relationships like in-laws would be covered {as an interest} as well. 

Here is Article 4 quoted in full with that portion which pertains specifically to this question highlighted in red: 

REALTOR®s shall not acquire an interest in or buy or present offers from themselves, any member of their 

immediate families, their firms or any member thereof, or any entities in which they have any ownership 

interest, any real property without making their true position known to the owner or the owner’s agent or 

broker.  In selling property they own, or in which they have any interest, REALTOR®s shall reveal their 

ownership or interest in writing to the purchaser or the purchaser’s representative. 

Mr. Hunt explains that the Real Estate Law defines “interest” in the same way as the Code but, unlike the 

Code, the Real Estate Law’s disclosure requirement applies only to the listing agent: 

BPC §10177 (o) provides that the Commissioner may suspend or revoke the license of any licensee who fails 

to disclose to a buyer the direct or indirect ownership interest in the property of any “… person related to the 

licensee by blood or marriage, by an entity in which the licensee has an ownership interest, or by any other 

person with whom the licensee has a special relationship … .” 

Since Betty represents the buyer, the Real Estate Law does not require her to disclose to Sam (the seller) 
that her buyer is also her son-in-law.  As Mr. Hunt says, “go figure!” 

http://law.justia.com/cases/california/court-of-appeal/4th/23/312.html
http://law.justia.com/cases/california/court-of-appeal/4th/23/312.html
http://law.justia.com/cases/california/supreme-court/2d/31/744.html
http://law.justia.com/cases/california/supreme-court/2d/31/744.html
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7. 2.3.4:  REFERRAL FEES 

Linda offers every painter, plumber, gardener, handyman, electrician, pool maintenance man, and tree 
trimmer she can find a $500 gift certificate at Home Depot for any referral which results in a listing with an 
additional $500 gift certificate should the listing culminate in a sale.  Linda … 
 
    A. is in violation of RESPA. 
    B. has taken an illegal “secret profit.” 
    C. is in violation of the Real Estate Law. 
    D. has committed no violation. 

 

(A)  Prior to 2013, my answer was ‘D’.  But in 2013 a student sent me an email claiming that the correct 

answer should be ‘A.’ 

At first, I rejected her claim.  But then I started to think, “Why is it that real estate agents don’t recruit 
service people as their finders?” 

I sought an answer and after hours of googling, I had to admit that she was right (explanation to follow). 

(B) is wrong since the term “secret profit” is in inapplicable in this context.  A “secret profit” is when an 
agent obtains something of value from his client’s transaction without his client’s knowledge (see 
BPC 10176(g)(h) for the actual law). 

(C) is wrong because it is not contrary to California’s Real Estate Law to pay an unlicensed person a 
referral fee providing the person receiving the fee performs no act for which a license is required. 

(D) is wrong because payment to an unlicensed person under RESPA can potentially be illegal.  My 
student was right and so let me explain … 

 

RESPA makes it illegal for any real estate licensee to pay or receive any referral fee for any settlement 
service for any federally-related mortgage.  Here is how the law is worded: 

… no person shall give and no person shall accept any fee, kickback, or thing of value pursuant to 
any agreement or understanding, oral or otherwise, that business incident to or a part of a real 
estate settlement service involving a federally-related mortgage loan shall be referred to any person 
(12 U.S.C. § 2607 (also commonly known as “Section 8(a)”). 
 

This wording relies on two ambiguous terms:  (1) “federally-related mortgage” and (2) “settlement service.” 

A “federally-related mortgage” refers to any mortgage backed by Fannie, Freddie, FHA, VA, or in any other 
agency of the Federal government.  It also refers to a mortgage from any lender which has deposits or 
accounts insured by any agency of the Federal Government (e.g., FDIC) or which is made in whole or in 

part by any lender which is regulated by the Federal Government (source). 

You might think (as I certainly did) that the second term, “settlement service,” refers only to services 
necessary to close escrow – services such as appraisal, home inspection, pest inspection; and, of course, 
financing.  But you would be wrong! 

CAR® and other experts, who know RESPA far better than I do, consider the brokerage itself to be a 
“settlement service.” 

The penalty for paying an illegal referral fee under RESPA can be as high as ten thousand dollars AND 
one year in jail AND punitive damages up to three times amount paid for the referral AND attorney fees 
AND court costs. 

For example, if you were to pay a gardener $100 for a referral which resulted in a sale financed by Fannie, 
you could (1) serve one year in jail, (2) pay a fine of ten thousand dollars (it’s not clear to whom this 

http://law.justia.com/codes/california/2011/bpc/division-4/10175-10186.9/10176
http://www.realtor.com/news/ask-a-realtor/what-is-the-law-regarding-referral-fees-in-california/
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amount would be paid), AND (3) be liable to your client for punitive damages in the amount of $300 ($100 x 
3) plus his legal expenses. 

While serving your year in Federal jail, eating Ramen noodles and working out in the prison yard, you 
would at least have the comfort of knowing that when you were released your California real estate would 

still be valid  BECAUSE, under California law, the payment of a referral fee to a gardener is not illegal. 

Note:  The Winter 2016 edition of Real Estate Matters  contains a very long (10 pages) and very boring 
article on referral fees.  It makes the point that California Real Estate Law prohibits referral fees for 
specified settlement services (e.g., pest inspection, escrow, etc.) and applies to all types of real estate 
transactions (commercial, land sales, agricultural, etc.) while RESPA applies only to residential sales and 
defines a settlement service as any activity which directly or indirectly involves a federally-related mortgage 
activity.  This article gives this relevant example: 
 
     A real estate broker pays a referral fee to an unlicensed person who provided her with the name and  
     contact information of a potential client seeking real estate services (a one-time referral).  This singular  
     event and activity would be permitted under the California Real Estate Law as long as the unlicensed  
     person did not perform any acts requiring a real estate license.  However, if the subsequent real estate  
     transaction that ensued between the broker and client (who was referred to the broker) involved the  
     purchase of residential real property and the origination of a federally related mortgage loan by a  
     RESPA-covered lender, then the payment of said referral fee by the real estate broker to the unlicensed  
     person is prohibited under RESPA. 

The remainder of the questions pertain to NAR®’s Code of Ethics. 

8. 3.2.2.1:  ARTICLE 1:  BE HONEST WITH ALL PARTIES 

REALTORS® are not obligated to continue to market a property after the seller has accepted an offer. 

 

True  The Code states that offers must be presented until the sale is finalized but Article 1, Standard 7 

states that REALTOR®s shall not be obligated to continue to market the property after an offer has been accepted by 

the seller/landlord. 

9. 3.2.2.1:  ARTICLE 1:  BE HONEST WITH ALL PARTIES 

Francine interviewed Linda and other licensees to find an agent to list her home.  Francine told Linda that 
she had to sell to finance an operation needed to save her daughter’s life.  Francine did not hire Linda but 
now, as it happens, Linda represents Bob and Bob wants to buy Francine’s home. 
 
Linda’s duty is to tell Bob how desperate Francine is to sell. 

 

False  But, in truth, we’re not really sure this is the correct answer. 

We’re not sure the Code’s duty to maintain confidentiality applies in this situation.  Article 1, Standard 9 of 
the Code states that it is the obligation of REALTOR®s to preserve confidential information (as defined by State 

law) provided by their clients in the course of any agency relationship … continues after termination of the agency 

relationships …. 

But Francine didn’t hire Linda but Bob did.  Hence, Linda never had an agency relationship with Francine 
but she does with Bob and so must be loyal to him.  And loyalty in this situation would compel Linda to let 
Bob now just how desperate Francine was to sell so that he could stretch out his negotiations with her to 
get a better price. 

http://www.dre.ca.gov/files/pdf/reb/rebwinter_16.pdf
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And yet, it seems unfair, even inhumane, for Linda to exploit Francine’s predicament in this way. 

In such ambiguous cases we should consider the “Golden Rule” on which the Code of Ethics is based.  As 
stated in the Code’s preamble:  “Whatsoever ye would that others should do to you, do ye even so to them.”  By 

this rule, if the tables were turned, Linda would want Francine to keep what she told her confidential. 

10. 3.2.2.1:  ARTICLE 1:  BE HONEST WITH ALL PARTIES 

After Betty shows several homes to Bob, Bob asks Betty to write an offer.  Betty agrees to write and 
present the offer but only if Bob agrees to list with her his current home should their offer be accepted.  
Betty is in violation of the Code. 

 

True  Betty requires Bob to sign a “prelisting agreement” as a condition to writing and presenting an offer 

to Sam.  As Bob’s agent, Betty is obliged to protect and promote Bob’s interests above her own.  But in 
giving Bob an ultimatum, Betty places her own interest (a future listing) above Bob’s interest (to purchase 
Sam’s home) – a clear violation of Article 1 which reads When representing a buyer, seller, landlord, tenant, or 

other client as an agent, REALTOR®s pledge themselves to protect and promote the interests of their client. 

Citation:  In Case Interpretation #1-14 it is written, [a] buyer’s agent must never condition his presentation of a 

purchase offer on his client’s signing of a pre-listing agreement (i.e., an agreement that should the buyer’s offer be 

accepted, the buyer agrees to list another home with the buyer’s agent). 

Note:  Betty’s prelisting agreement would not have been in violation of Article 1 had she and Bob agreed to 
it before she began representing Bob. 

11. 3.2.2.2:  ARTICLE 2:  BE TRUTHFUL WHILE RESPECTING 

CONFIDENCES 

A prospective buyer asks Linda if any of her seller’s immediate neighbors have children.  Linda answers 
“no.”  Linda is in violation of the Code. 

 

True  Although Article 2 states that “REALTOR®s shall avoid … concealment of pertinent facts relating to the 

property or the transaction” the Code also compels the REALTOR® to conceal facts which are “legally 
immaterial.”  Factors defined as “non-material” by law or regulation or which are expressly referenced in law or 

regulation as not being subject to disclosure are considered not “pertinent” for purposes of Article 2 … [a]n example 

of information which must not be mentioned, let alone be disclosed, is any reference to any person’s race, color, 

religion, sex, national origin, familial status, handicap, or gender identity. 

Because the buyer asks about the neighbor’s “familial status” (referring to children) this question is legally 
immaterial; therefore, Linda must not answer it.  (BTW, if Linda answered the question she would also be in 
violation of the Fair Housing Act as explained in our Fair Housing course.) 

Note #1:  I have received several complaints about this answer.  Admittedly, the question seems harmless 
enough and seems to compel an honest, straight-forward answer from the agent.  But, from my 
understanding of the Fair Housing Law, I believe it would be illegal to answer the question as it concerns 
the “prohibited characteristic” known as “familial status.” 

Legally, as we will see in our three-hour Fair Housing course, the fair housing laws require agents to be 
“blind” to all prohibited characteristics (there is a minor exception for a “disability” not apparent to a landlord 

asked to make a “reasonable accommodation” for that disability). 

http://columbusrealtors.com/REALTOR_Tools/Code_of_Ethics/Case_Interpretations/interpretation_article1.aspx
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So how should the question be answered?  The preferred and legally-correct answer would be “I haven’t 
noticed.”  But if the agent were unable to say this without holding his finger’s crossed behind his back he 

could always answer, “I’m sorry but I’m not supposed to answer that question.” 😊 

Note #2: Other home attributes which are legally non-material in California include the death of a former 
occupant more than three years before a property is sold (CC §1710.2(a)) and the presence of a sober-
living facility occupied by six or fewer recovering addicts.  Regarding the latter, Health and Safety Code 
§11834.22 defines such a facility as a residential use and the recovering addicts as a “family” and CC 
§3482 says “nothing which is done or maintained under the express authority of a statute can be deemed a 

nuisance.”  (Source) 

12. 3.2.2.8:  ARTICLE 8:  KEEP CLIENT/CUSTOMER FUNDS IN ESCROW 

Walter is a REALTOR® specializing in property management.  Linda learns that Walter has appropriated 
20% of his client’s rental income to buy lottery tickets.  As a REALTOR®, it is Linda’s duty to report Walter to 
the DRE. 

 

False  Of course Walter’s use of 20% of his client’s rental income to buy himself lottery tickets is not only 

criminal it is a clear violation of Article 8 of the Code:  REALTOR®s shall keep in a special account in an 

appropriate financial institution, separated from their own funds, monies coming into their possession in trust for other 

persons, such as escrows, trust funds, clients’ monies, and other like items. 

In the preamble to the Code, it is stated REALTOR®s having direct personal knowledge of conduct that may 

violate the Code involving misappropriation of client or customer funds or property … should bring such matters to 

the attention of the appropriate Board or Association of REALTOR®s.  Since Linda knows that Walter is 
misappropriating his client’s rental income, the Code compels her to report Walter to her Board – not to the 
DRE. 

In §3.2.2.8 (Case Interpretation #8-2) we learn that if the Board finds that an agent has violated this article 

[Article 8:  “Maintenance of Trust Funds”], it may forward its finding to the state real estate commission as a possible 

violation of public trust.  In California, the “real estate commission” is, of course, the DRE.  But it is the Board 
who must decide to report Walter to the DRE and not Linda. 

13. 3.2.2.9:  ARTICLE 9:  DOCUMENT AGREEMENTS IN WRITING 

Walter leases an apartment to Bob for two months.  Walter forgets to have Bob sign a lease agreement.  
Walter is in violation of the Code. 

 

True  Article 9 of the Code states REALTOR®s … shall assure … that all agreements related to real estate 

transactions including, but not limited to, listing and representation agreements, purchase contracts, and leases are in 

writing in clear and understandable language expressing the specific terms, conditions, obligations and commitments 

of the parties. 

State law requires that only agreements with terms of one year or more be in writing:  The California Statute 

of Frauds (CC §1624) requires the following agreements to be in writing:  listing agreements, purchase contracts, 

leases longer than one year, and any contract that cannot be performed within one year. 

The Code requires Walter to put the two-month lease agreement in writing while the Real Estate Law 
(which includes the Statute of Frauds) does not. 

https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/disclosure-sober-living-home-thehunt-team
http://columbusrealtors.com/REALTOR_Tools/Code_of_Ethics/Case_Interpretations/interpretation_article8.aspx
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14. 3.2.3.2:  ARTICLE 11:  PROVIDE COMPETENT CONSULTING 

George offers Linda a fee to appraise his apartment building but Linda says to George, “… but I have no 
appraisal experience.”  George hires Linda and Linda performs the appraisal and collects her fee.  Linda is 
in violation of the Code. 

 

False  Article 11 of the Code permits Linda to provide a service for which she is unqualified providing she 

discloses her lack of qualifications to her principal:  … REALTOR®s shall not undertake to provide specialized 

professional services concerning a type of property or service that is outside their field of competence unless they 

engage the assistance of one who is competent on such types of property or service, or unless the facts are fully 

disclosed to the client.  Any persons engaged to provide such assistance shall be so identified to the client and their 

contribution to the assignment should be set forth. 

15. 3.2.3.3:  ARTICLE 12:  CONVEY A “TRUE PICTURE” WHEN 

ADVERTISING 

Babbitt is a prominent REALTOR® in Zenith.  He advertises his home as a “For Sell by Owner.”  Bob 
purchases his home.  At no time does Babbitt disclose to Bob that he is a REALTOR® because, he claims, 
everyone in Zenith knows this.  Babbitt violates Article 12, “The True Picture Test”. 

 

True  Babbitt portrayed himself as a FiSBO – an owner without real 

estate brokerage experience attempting to sell his own home to avoid 
paying a real estate agent a commission.  While it is true Babbitt is the 
owner, he is also a REALTOR® and, as such, this puts Bob’s buyers at a 
disadvantage in negotiating a sale owing to Bob’s knowledge and 
experience.  He is not really presenting a “true picture” when portraying 
himself as a FiSBO. 

Citation:  Article 12/Standard 6:  REALTOR®s, when advertising unlisted real property for sale/lease in which they 

have an ownership interest, shall disclose their status as both owners/landlords and as REALTOR®s or real estate 

licensees. 

Note #1:  This question is based on Case Interpretation #12-8.  In that case, the hearing panel concluded 
that: 

 Article 12 as interpreted by Standard of Practice 12-6, does establish a requirement to disclose both 
 ownership interest and licensure status when the REALTOR® advertises his own unlisted property for  
 sale.  Merely indicating REALTOR®’s name in the advertisement and assuming that his prominence  
 in the real estate business was well known was not enough.  The panel concluded that the  
 REALTOR® was obliged to disclose his licensure status in the advertisement, since this knowledge  
 might well have affected Mr. X’s [Bob’s] negotiations on the property as well as his eventual  
 decision to purchase. 

Note #2:  Though Babbitt was unethical, he broke no law. 

http://columbusrealtors.com/REALTOR_Tools/Code_of_Ethics/Case_Interpretations/interpretation_article12.aspx
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16. 3.2.3.5:  ARTICLE 14:  COOPERATE IN INVESTIGATIONS 

If charged with an ethics violation, it is the duty of the REALTOR® to obtain the name of his accuser from the 
Board’s investigator so that he, the REALTOR®, may contact his accuser to mediate a resolution. 

 

False  Article 14 reads, If charged with unethical practice … in any professional standards proceeding or 

investigation, REALTOR®s shall place all pertinent facts before the proper tribunals of the Member Board … and shall 

take no action to disrupt or obstruct such processes. 

Consequently, a REALTOR® charged with an ethics violation should answer all questions and furnish all 
materials requested by the Board investigator and let the Board resolve the complaint. 
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